THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

APR 27 2017

Hon. Perry H. Gravely, Circuit Court Judge

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2016-001691  
Case No. 2015-CP-23-06023

iStar Tara, LLC, ..... Respondent,

v.

Stevens Aviation, Inc., Greenville County,  
South Carolina, and City of Greenville,  
South Carolina, ..... Defendants,

Of whom

Stevens Aviation, Inc., is the ..... Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Kirsten E. Small  
Julio E. Mendoza, Jr.  
Kyle A. Brannon  
Suzanne Taylor Graham Grigg  
Nexsen Pruet, LLC  
Post Office Drawer 10648  
Greenville, SC 29603  
(864) 370-2211

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

1. Did the Circuit Court err in dismissing Appellant's counterclaims for failure to state a claim on which relief can be granted?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Stevens Aviation, Inc. (“Stevens”) appeals the circuit court’s dismissal of its counterclaims in a lawsuit filed by Respondent iStar Tara, LLC (“iStar”).

During the period of time relevant to this litigation, Stevens provided aircraft maintenance and repair services, operating out of leased space at the Donaldson Center Air Industrial Park (“Donaldson Location”) and the Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport (“GSP Location”). (R. pp. 10-14 (Compl. ¶¶ 3-9).)

In December 2006, Stevens obtained a loan in the aggregate principal amount of \$25 million, as evidenced by two promissory notes. (R. p. 15 (Compl. ¶¶ 15-16); R. pp. 161-173 (Compl. Ex. 2).) The “Loan Agreement” executed by Stevens (R. p. 15 (Compl. ¶ 15) provides, in relevant part, that it is governed by New York law and that its terms may not be modified except in writing. (R. pp. 109, 112 (Compl. Ex. 1, at 11.8, 11.16).) The loan was secured in part, by leasehold mortgages on the Donaldson and GSP Locations. (R. pp. 15-17 (Compl. ¶¶ 17-19); R. pp. 175-249 (Compl. Exs. 3-9).) iStar is the successor-in-interest to the original lender, the assignee of the mortgages, and the current holder of the promissory notes. (R. p. 17 (Compl. ¶ 21); R. pp. 251-271 (Compl. Exs. 10-11).)

In March 2011, Stevens executed amended promissory notes reflecting a total principal indebtedness of \$24,925,000. (R. pp. 17-19 (Compl. ¶¶ 22-30); R. pp. 273-

369 (Compl. Exs. 12-14).<sup>1</sup> The debt under one of the two notes was scheduled to mature on March 1, 2015. Prior to that time, however, Stevens and iStar entered into an oral agreement that replaced the then-existing loan.

Negotiations for the new agreement began in January 2015. (R. pp. 393-394 (Answer & Countercls. ¶ 82).) The result of the negotiations was an oral contract between Stevens and iStar (the “Discounted Payment Contract”). Under the Discounted Payment Contract, Stevens agreed that by the end of August 2015, it would (1) pay iStar \$8 million and (2) grant iStar the right to receive 50 percent of the proceeds of any sale of Stevens’s equity occurring within four years of the \$8 million payment (the “Contingent Equity Right”). iStar, for its part, agreed to accept \$8 million and the Contingent Equity Right as full and complete satisfaction of Stevens’s indebtedness. (R. pp. 393-394 (Answer & Countercls. ¶ 82).)

Stevens performed its obligations under the Discounted Payment Contract. Between March and July 2015, Stevens expended substantial time and resources arranging financing that would enable it to make the \$8 million payment to iStar. As a result of these efforts, by mid-July 2015 Stevens had obtained commitments for financing sufficient to make the agreed-upon payment to iStar. (R. p. 394 (Answer & Countercls. ¶ 85).) iStar knew or should have known that Stevens would engage in such efforts to fulfill its end of the parties’ bargain. (R. p. 394 (Answer & Countercls. ¶ 84).)

---

<sup>1</sup> Throughout this brief, the term “loan documents” will refer collectively to Exhibits 1-14 of iStar’s complaint.

When Stevens informed iStar that it had arranged financing and was ready and able to complete its performance under the Discounted Payment Contract, however, iStar attempted to change the agreement by adding terms the parties had not previously discussed. (R. pp. 394-395 (Answer & Countercls. ¶ 86.) In addition to being a surprise to Stevens, the new terms were unreasonable. For example, iStar demanded the rights to monitor Stevens's internal cash flow and to impose restrictions on Stevens's ability to pay certain of its creditors—terms that effectively scuttled the financing Stevens had worked so hard to arrange. (R. pp. 394-395 (Answer & Countercls. ¶ 86).)

Stevens rejected iStar's attempt to introduce new terms into an agreement that had been reached months before, and under which Stevens was ready and able to perform. (R. p. 395 (Answer & Countercls. ¶ 87).) In response, iStar rejected Stevens's tender of performance under the Discounted Payment Contract, *i.e.*, payment of \$8 million and grant of the Contingent Equity Right, and refused to engage in any further discussion of the matter. (R. p. 395 (Answer & Countercls. ¶ 87).)

In October 2015, iStar filed an action in the Greenville County Court of Common Pleas to foreclose on the leasehold mortgage for the Donaldson Location. (R. pp. 375-380 (Lis Pendens); R. pp. 10-34 (Compl.).)<sup>2</sup> Stevens answered the complaint and asserted three counterclaims arising from iStar's breach of the Discounted

---

<sup>2</sup> iStar filed a virtually identical action in the Spartanburg County Court of Common Pleas to foreclose on the leasehold mortgage for the GSP Location. Pursuant to a consent order, that action has been stayed pending resolution of the Greenville action. (R. pp. 1-3 (Consent Order).)

Payment Contract: breach of contract, negligent misrepresentation, and promissory estoppel. (R. pp. 393-398 (Answer & Countercls. ¶¶ 81-105).)

iStar moved to dismiss Stevens's counterclaims pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC, arguing that the Discounted Payment Contract was unenforceable because the loan documents require any modification of the loan to be made in writing. (R. pp. 401-402 (Pl.'s Mot. to Dismiss & Reply to Countercls. at 1-2).)

The parties submitted briefs and the circuit court heard oral argument on iStar's motion. Thereafter, the circuit court entered an order dismissing Stevens's counterclaims on the basis that "[t]he Discounted Payment Contract is an unauthorized oral modification to the Loan Agreement in direct contravention of its explicit terms prohibiting oral modifications." (R. p. 4 (Order, Apr. 26, 2016, at 1).) The circuit court further ruled that although New York law recognizes certain exceptions to no-oral-modification clauses, those exceptions did not apply. (R. pp. 4-5 (Order, Apr. 26, 2016, at 1-2).)

Stevens timely moved for reconsideration. (R. pp. 416-419 (Stevens Aviation, Inc.'s Mot. to Recons., Alter or Amend).) The circuit court denied this motion on July 27, 2016. (R. pp. 7-8 (Order, July 27, 2016).) Thereafter, Stevens timely filed its notice of appeal.

## ARGUMENT

On appeal from a dismissal under Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCF, the appellate court applies the same standard as the circuit court. *See Patterson v. Winter*, 791 S.E.2d 294, 300 (Ct. App. 2016). This means that the Court must base its ruling solely on, and assume the truth of, the allegations set forth in Stevens's counterclaims. *See Chestnut v. AVX Corp.*, 413 S.C. 224, 227, 776 S.E.2d 82, 84 (2015); *Cole Vision Corp. v. Hobbs*, 394 S.C. 144, 148, 714 S.E.2d 537, 539 (2011). Dismissal is improper "if the facts alleged and the inferences reasonably deducible therefrom would entitle the plaintiff to any relief on any theory of the case." *Cole Vision*, 394 S.C. at 148-49, 714 S.E.2d at 539. "The question is whether, in the light most favorable to the plaintiff and with every doubt resolved in his behalf, the complaint states any valid claim for relief." *Id.* at 149, 714 S.E.2d at 539. "Further, novel questions of law should not ordinarily be resolved on a Rule 12(b)(6) motion." *Chestnut*, 413 S.C. at 227, 776 S.E.2d at 84.

### **I. THE FACTS ALLEGED BY STEVENS ESTABLISH AN ENFORCEABLE ORAL CONTRACT.**

In ruling on iStar's motion to dismiss, the circuit court was required to accept as true Stevens's allegation that the parties entered into an oral contract, pursuant to which iStar agreed to accept \$8 million and the Contingent Equity Right in full satisfaction of Stevens's indebtedness. The circuit court was further required to accept as true Stevens's allegations that it expended substantial time and resources to fulfill its end of the bargain by obtaining financing for the \$8 million payment and that, when Stevens tendered performance to iStar, iStar attempted to add new,

unreasonable terms to the contract. And, the circuit court was required to accept as true Stevens's allegation that iStar rejected Stevens's tender of performance under the oral contract. In reviewing the circuit court's dismissal of Stevens's counterclaims, this Court likewise must accept the truth of the foregoing allegations.

Stevens admits that it executed the Loan Agreement, that the Loan Agreement is controlled by New York law, and that the Loan Agreement contains a no-oral-modifications clause. However, it is critical to note that Stevens' counterclaims are not based upon a modification to the Loan Agreement, but on the separate Discounted Payment Contract entered into by the parties over eight years later, in 2015. Because the Discounted Payment Contract is a separate contract, it is not governed by New York law and must be governed by common law choice-of-law principles. "[A] contract is controlled by the laws of the State in which it is made and is to be performed." *Doctors Hosp. of Augusta, LLC v. CompTrust AGC Workers' Comp. Trust Fund*, 371 S.C. 5, 9, 636 S.E.2d 862, 864 (2006) (quoting *Murphy v. Equitable Life Assurance Soc'y of the United States*, 197 S.C. 393, 407, 15 S.E.2d 646, 651 (1941)). Because Stevens is a corporation with its principal place of business in South Carolina, the leased real and personal property at issue in this case is situated in South Carolina, and all of Stevens's operations necessary for performance under the Discounted Payment Contract took place in South Carolina, the Discounted Payment Contract is governed by South Carolina law. See *Witt v. Am. Trucking Assocs., Inc.*, 860 F. Supp. 295, 300-01 (D.S.C. 1994).

Oral contracts are expressly allowed under South Carolina law. "A contract is

an obligation which arises from actual agreement of the parties manifested by words, oral or written, or by conduct.” *Armstrong v. Collins*, 366 S.C. 204, 222-23, 621 S.E.2d 368, 377 (Ct. App. 2005) (quoting *Roberts v. Gaskins*, 327 S.C. 478, 483, 486 S.E.2d 771, 773 (Ct. App. 1997)). “With certain exceptions, a contract need not be in writing to be enforceable.” *Id.*

Moreover, the Discounted Payment Contract is not prohibited by South Carolina’s statute of frauds, which codifies the common law rule requiring a writing for a contract that cannot be performed within one year. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 32-3-10(5) (2007); *Roberts v. Gaskins*, 327 S.C. 478, 484, 486 S.E.2d 771, 774 (Ct. App. 1997) (“It is ... well established that the Statute of Frauds applies only to contracts which are *impossible* of performance within one year.” (emphasis added)). According to its terms, the Discounted Payment Contract was capable of being performed within one year, because Stevens would perform its part of the agreement by paying the \$8 million and granting the Contingent Equity Right to iStar, at which point Stevens’s indebtedness would be satisfied and both sides’ contractual duties would be fulfilled. *See Roberts*, 327 S.C. at 484, 486 S.E.2d at 774 (“A contract having a contingency which may occur within the year need not be supported by a written document. If there is a possibility of performance within a year, the contract is not barred by the Statute of Frauds. The fact that performance within a year is highly improbable or not expected by the parties does not bring a contract within the scope of this clause.” (citations omitted)).

The Discounted Payment Contract is equally valid under New York law, which

is clear that oral contracts are enforceable. See *Cron v. Hargo Fabrics, Inc.*, 694 N.E.2d 56 (N.Y. 1998); N.Y. Gen. Oblig. Law § 5-701 (McKinney 1963) (statute of frauds).

## **II. THE LOAN AGREEMENT'S NO-ORAL-MODIFICATIONS CLAUSE DOES NOT PRECLUDE ENFORCEMENT OF THE DISCOUNTED PAYMENT CONTRACT.**

iStar's argument for dismissal of Stevens's counterclaims rests on its contention that the Discounted Payment Contract is unenforceable because the Loan Agreement prohibits oral modifications of its terms. The circuit court erred in accepting iStar's argument, for either of two reasons.

First, the Discounted Payment Contract is not a *modification* of the Loan Agreement, but rather is a new and distinct contract, independent of the Loan Agreement. See *Rose Inn of Ithaca, Inc. v. Great Am. Ins. Co.*, 905 N.Y.S.2d 318, 320 (N.Y. App. Div. 2010) (“[A]n accord and satisfaction is effected when the parties ... enter into a new contract wherein they agree that a stipulated performance will be accepted in the future, in lieu of an existing claim.” (internal quotation marks omitted; alteration in original)); *Moore v. Weinberg*, 373 S.C. 209, 217, 644 S.E.2d 740, 744 (Ct. App. 2007) (holding that “[n]ovation is a defense to contract claims” because “[a] novation is an agreement between all parties concerned for the substitution of a new obligation between the parties with the intent to extinguish the old obligation”).<sup>3</sup> Consequently, any strictures imposed by the Loan Agreement,

---

<sup>3</sup> A novation is a form of accord and satisfaction. See 1 C.J.S. *Accord and Satisfaction* § 4.

including the no-oral-modifications clause, are inapplicable and the Discounted Payment Contract is enforceable in the same manner as any other oral contract.

Second, and in the alternative, the Discounted Payment Contract is enforceable even if it is an oral modification of the Loan Agreement. In arguing otherwise, iStar relies on New York statutory law providing that a contract containing a no-oral-modifications clause “cannot be changed by an executory agreement unless such executory agreement is in writing and signed by the party against whom enforcement of the change is sought.” N.Y. Gen. Oblig. Law § 15-301(1); see *Maynard Ct. Owners Corp. v. Rentoulis*, 652 N.Y.S.2d 664, 665 (N.Y. App. Div. 1997) (“Where, as here, the parties to a written agreement include a proscription against oral modification, the effectiveness of any purported modification is governed by General Obligation Law § 15-301(1).”).

Even if the Discounted Payment Contract were a modification of the Loan Agreement (as noted above, it is not), § 15-301(1) would not bar its enforcement. New York courts have long recognized “[t]hat a written contract may ... be effectively modified, even when it contains a stipulation against oral modification.” *Alcon v. Kinton Realty, Inc.*, 156 N.Y.S.2d 439, 440 (N.Y. App. Div. 1956). In the seminal case of *Rose v. Spa Realty Associates*, 366 N.E.2d 1279 (N.Y. 1977), New York’s highest court held that an oral modification is effective, § 15-301(1) notwithstanding, when (1) there has been partial performance of the oral agreement, if such partial performance is “unequivocally referable to the modification”; or (2) “a party’s conduct induces another’s significant and substantial reliance on the agreement to modify.”

*Id.* at 1281. In the first case, performance takes the modification out of the scope of § 15-301(1), which applies only to executory modifications. *See id.* at 1283; *see also Maynard Ct. Owners*, 652 N.Y.S.2d at 665 (“By its terms, the statute bars only ‘executory’ modifications and, therefore, once a modification is executed, it may be proved despite the absence of the signed writing required by the statute.”). In the second case, a party that induces reliance on an oral modification will be equitably estopped from denying that the modification was made. *See Rose*, 366 N.E.2d at 1283; *see id.* (describing equitable estoppel as “analytically distinct from the doctrine of partial performance”).

1. *Section 15-301(1) does not apply because Stevens performed its obligations under the Discounted Payment Contract.*

The purpose of § 15-301(1) is to ensure the authenticity of modifications to written contracts. *Rose*, 366 N.E.2d at 1282. “Put otherwise, if the only proof of an alleged agreement to deviate from a written contract is the oral exchanges between the parties, the writing controls.” *Id.* In contrast, “when the oral agreement to modify has been acted upon to completion, the same need to protect the integrity of the written agreement ... does not arise” because “the actions taken may demonstrate, objectively, the nature and extent of the modification.” *Id.* The same principle applies to partial performance of an alleged oral modification, with the caveat that partial performance overcomes § 15-301(1) only if it is “unequivocally referable to the oral modification.” *Id.*

In this case, the factual allegations of Stevens’s counterclaims (which must be accepted as true) establish that the Discounted Payment Contract is no longer

executory because there has been complete performance. Stevens alleged that after entering into the Discounted Payment Contract, it performed its part of the agreement by successfully arranging financing for the \$8 million payment and, by mid-July 2015, tendering performance to iStar. (R. pp. 394-395 (Answer & Countercls. ¶¶ 85-87).) It makes no difference that iStar refused to perform its part of the bargain. (R. p. 395 (Answer & Countercls. ¶ 87).) Under New York law, when the party relying on an oral modification performs its obligations in good faith, the other party cannot show that the modification remains executory by pointing to its own refusal to perform. *See Arndt v. Leff*, 179 N.Y.S.2d 356, 358 (N.Y. City Ct. 1958) (holding that when plaintiffs fully performed their obligations under an alleged oral modification of a written contract, “it is difficult to conceive that” the defendant’s failure to perform its obligations “should change the character of the agreement from ‘Executed’ to ‘Executory’”).

Even if the Court views Stevens’s actions as constituting only partial performance, the performance exception to 15-301(1) is satisfied because Stevens’s arrangement of financing is “unequivocally referable” to the Discounted Payment Contract. Nothing in the loan documents requires, or even contemplates, a lump-sum payment of \$8 million or the grant of the Contingent Equity Right. *See, e.g., Rose*, 366 N.E.2d at 1284. *Rose* involved a land-purchase agreement, under which the plaintiffs’ obligation to purchase one or more parcels was contingent upon the defendants’ success in obtaining approvals to build 150 dwelling units. Plaintiffs alleged that the agreement had been orally modified to reduce the number of required approvals to

96, and the defendants in fact applied for, and obtained, 96 approvals. *See id.* at 1281-82. The court held that this partial performance was unequivocally referable to the oral modification because “nothing [in the written agreement] pertained to closing title on 96” units. *Id.* at 1284. Because the defendants’ conduct “was not compatible with any option in the written agreement,” the exception to § 15-301(1) was satisfied.

*Rose* is fatal to iStar’s argument that Stevens’s arrangement of financing for the \$8 million lump-sum payment is not unequivocally referable to the Discounted Payment Contract because “the [L]oan [A]greement always required Stevens to pay iStar.” (R. p. 429, lines 2-4 (Tr. of Hr’g. (Mar. 14, 2016), at 10).) If this reasoning were correct, the outcome in *Rose* would have been different because the land purchase agreement at issue in that case always required the defendants to obtain approvals.<sup>4</sup> As *Rose* makes clear, partial performance is “unequivocally referable” to an oral modification when, as here, the performance is identifiably different from what is required in the written agreement. *Accord John Street Leasehold LLC v. FDIC*, 196 F.3d 379, 382 (2d Cir. 1999) (holding that partial performance was not unequivocally referable to an alleged oral modification of mortgage agreement when the “partial performance” consisted of continuing to make mortgage payments and maintain the

---

<sup>4</sup> In the circuit court, iStar referred to the performance doctrine as the “*Towers Charter* exception,” referring to *Towers Charter & Marine Corp. v. Cadillac Insurance Co.*, 894 F.2d 516 (2d Cir. 1990). *Towers Charter*, however, relied exclusively on *Rose*. *See id.* at 522. As a federal court, the Second Circuit can only interpret or anticipate state law. Consequently, *Rose* is the controlling decision, not *Towers Charter*. *See In re Arab Bank, PLC Alien Tort Statute Litig.*, 808 F.3d 144, 159 (2d Cir. 2015) (“[W]hen an issue is governed by state law, federal courts must look to the decisions of that state’s courts, not to federal court decisions purporting either to interpret the state law or provide better answers.”).

premises, just as had been done prior to the alleged modification).

2. *iStar is equitably estopped from denying the Discounted Payment Contract.*

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