THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Hon. Perry H. Gravely, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2016-001691  
Case No. 2015-CP-23-06023

---

iStar Tara LLC, ..... Respondent,

v.

Stevens Aviation, Inc., Greenville County,  
South Carolina, and City of Greenville,  
South Carolina, ..... Defendants,

Of whom

Stevens Aviation, Inc., is the ..... Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

RECEIVED

APR 26 2017

SC Court of Appeals

Rebecca K. Lindahl  
Richard L. Farley  
Lindsey L. Smith  
Katten Muchin Rosenman LLP  
550 S. Tryon Street, Suite 2900  
Charlotte, NC 28202

Rivers S. Stilwell

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

### **ARGUMENT**

Each of Stevens' counterclaims hinges on the existence of the “Discounted Payment Contract.” The only question before the trial court on iStar's Motion to Dismiss Stevens' Counterclaims was thus whether the “Discounted Payment Contract” amends the Loan Agreement or is a new contract between Stevens and iStar. Because the terms of the purported

“Discounted Payment Contract” amend the Loan Agreement, the trial court held that it was not a standalone contract, but rather an attempt to orally modify the Loan Agreement in direct contravention of its explicit terms requiring written modifications. The trial court thus correctly held that Stevens’ counterclaims fail as a matter of law.

**I. THE “DISCOUNTED PAYMENT CONTRACT” IS A MODIFICATION OF THE LOAN AGREEMENT.**

As an initial matter, to the extent that Stevens argues that the trial court erred by not accepting as true Stevens’ factual allegations that it entered into a standalone contract with iStar, that argument fails. Although the trial court and this Court are required to accept factual allegations as true, the existence of a contract is a question of law rather than fact when the undisputed facts do not establish a contract. *Stevens & Wilkinson of S.C., Inc. v. City of Columbia*, 409 S.C. 568, 578, 762 S.E.2d 696, 701 (2014). Here, the terms of the Loan Agreement are undisputed, and it is thus appropriate for this Court to determine that the “Discounted Payment Contract” does not exist as a separate contract as a matter of law based upon those undisputed terms. *Stevens*, 409 S.C. at 578, 762 at 701.

*1. The “Discounted Payment Contract” is not a new contract; it is a purported modification of the Loan Agreement.*

In an attempt to circumvent the express language of the Loan Agreement, Stevens takes great pains to paint the “Discounted Payment Contract” as a new agreement that is wholly separate from the Loan Agreement. But by its own purported terms, the “Discounted Payment Contract” modifies Stevens’ repayment obligation under the Loan Agreement, and is thus, not a standalone contract. Specifically, Stevens claims that under the “Discounted Payment Contract,” Stevens’ debt to iStar under the Loan Agreement would be satisfied in full if Stevens (i) paid iStar \$8,000,000 by the end of August 2015; and (ii) gave iStar the right to 50% of the proceeds from a sale of Stevens’ equity if such sale were to occur within four years of Stevens’ payment to

iStar. In other words, before the purported “Discounted Payment Contract,” Stevens could, satisfy its debt to iStar by paying iStar the balance of the promissory notes evidencing the Loan Agreement, but after the purported “Discounted Payment Contract” was entered, Stevens could satisfy its debt to iStar by paying iStar \$8,000,000 and giving iStar a participation right in a sale of Stevens. Or stated yet another way, the “Discounted Payment Contract” amends the payment terms of the Loan Agreement.

As a matter of both common sense and New York law (which indisputably applies to the Loan Agreement), the “Discounted Payment Contract” amends the Loan Agreement. Under New York law, a subsequent agreement between the parties to a contract is an amendment rather than a separate agreement if it alters, changes, deletes, or cancels the original terms in the first agreement. *In re S.E. Nichols, Inc.*, 120 B.R. 745, 749 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 1990); *see also FDIC v. Herald Square Fabrics Corp.*, 81 A.D.2d 168, 182, 439 N.Y.S.2d 944, 953 (2d Dep’t 1981) (finding that a dealer agreement was not amended by a subsequent agreement when none of the terms in the dealer agreement were altered). To determine whether a subsequent agreement is a modification rather than a new agreement, “substance, rather than form, controls.” *In re S.E. Nichols, Inc.*, 120 B.R. at 748 (citing *Winter v. Ajax Auto Serv. Co.*, 81 N.Y.S.2d 17, 18 (Sup. Ct. N.Y. Co. 1948)).

The substance of the “Discounted Payment Contract” changes the repayment terms and purports to amend the Loan Agreement. Specifically, the “Discounted Payment Contract” purports to further reduce the aggregate principal balance of the Loan for which Stevens would make payment of \$8,000,000 to iStar, and iStar would receive the right to 50% of the proceeds from a sale of Stevens’ equity under certain terms and conditions. (R. p. 394). This change in payment terms is a modification rather than a new agreement.

Notably, Stevens does not dispute that the 2011 Amendment, which also modified the payment terms of the Loan Agreement, was a modification and not a new standalone agreement. Under the Loan Agreement, iStar loaned to Stevens the principal amount of \$25,000,000. (R. pp. 10-14). Like the “Discounted Payment Contract,” the 2011 Amendment modified the terms of the Loan Agreement by, among other things, reducing the aggregate principal balance of the Loan to \$24,925,000. (R. pp. 17-18). In other words, the 2011 Amendment modified the payment terms of the Loan Agreement. Stevens does not dispute that the 2011 Amendment—which is indistinguishable in its effect from the “Discounted Payment Contract”—was a modification of the Loan Agreement. This Court should therefore affirm the trial court’s ruling that the “Discounted Payment Contract” is an oral modification of the Loan Agreement.

2. *The “Discounted Payment Contract” is not a novation.*

Stevens argues for the first time on appeal that the “Discounted Payment Contract” is a novation. (App. Br., pp. 9-10). Stevens did not, however, raise this argument before the trial court or in its Motion for Reconsideration, so it is not properly before this appellate Court. (R. pp. 416-18); *Brouwer v. Sisters of Charity Providence Hospitals*, 409 S.C. 514, 520 n.4, 763 S.E.2d 200, 203 n.4 (2014) (holding argument not preserved for appeal after 12(b)(6) dismissal where issue was not raised before trial court or in plaintiff’s motion to reconsider); *Hotel & Motel Holdings, LLC, v. BJC Enterprises, LLC*, 414 S.C. 635, 655, 780 S.E.2d 263, 274 (Ct.App. 2015).

Even if Stevens’ novation argument were preserved for appeal, however, it fails. Under South Carolina law, a novation is an agreement between the parties for the substitution of a new obligation to extinguish the old obligation. *Wayne Dalton Corp. v. Acme Doors, Inc.*, 302 S.C. 93, 394 S.E.2d 5, 7 (Ct.App. 1990). The party asserting a novation has the burden of proving that both parties intended for a new agreement to extinguish a pre-existing agreement. *Adams v.*

*B&D Inc.*, 297 S.C. 416, 419, 377 S.E.2d 315, 317 (1989); *Moore v. Weinberg*, 373 S.C. 209, 218, 644 S.E.2d 740, 744 (Ct.App. 2007). Stevens did not allege the required element that iStar intended for the “Discounted Payment Contract” to extinguish Stevens’ executory obligations under the Loan Agreement, but even if it had, that allegation would be belied by the undisputed language of the Loan Agreement in which iStar manifested its intention that any amendments or modifications to the Loan Agreement be written. *See, e.g., Gonzalez v. Hurley Intern., LLC*, 920 F. Supp. 2d 243, 254 (D. P.R. 2013) (finding that an oral novation is impossible when an agreement requires amendments to be in writing).

Rather than a novation, the “Discounted Payment Contract” is an addendum that modifies, but does not eliminate, Stevens’ pre-existing obligation to repay iStar under the Loan Agreement. As a matter of law, such an agreement is not a novation. *Parker v. Shecut*, 340 S.C. 460, 481, 531 S.E.2d 546, 557-58 (Ct.App. 2000), *rev’d on other grounds*, 349 S.C. 226, 562 S.E.2d 620 (2002).

## **II. THE “DISCOUNTED PAYMENT CONTRACT” IS AN UNENFORCEABLE ORAL MODIFICATION TO THE LOAN AGREEMENT.**

The oral “Discounted Payment Contract” is ineffective under both the terms of the Loan Agreement and New York law, which provides that a written agreement with a provision that it cannot be modified orally can only be modified by signed writing. N.Y. Gen. Oblig. Law § 15-301 (McKinney); *Towers Charter & Marine Corp. v. Cadillac Ins. Co.*, 894 F.2d 516, 522 (2d Cir. 1990) (“In general, therefore, a written agreement that expressly states it can be modified only in writing cannot be modified orally.”)

### *1. The Loan Agreement expressly prohibits oral modifications.*

The express language of the Loan Agreement, which Stevens admits that it executed, prohibits oral modifications. (App. Br., pp. 6-7). Thus, for the oral “Discounted Payment

Contract” to be effective, Stevens must show that the oral-modification provision of the Loan Agreement was ineffective or inapplicable, which it cannot do.

The Loan Agreement provides as follows:

[N]o amendment, modification, termination or waiver of any provision of this Agreement, the Note, or any other Loan Document, or consent to any departure therefrom, shall in any event be effective **unless the same shall be in writing** and signed by the Lender (and, with respect to any amendment or modification, unless also signed by Borrower).

(R. p. 106) (emphasis added).

The Loan Agreement also contains a merger clause, which provides in pertinent part:

THIS AGREEMENT AND THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS MAY NOT BE VARIED BY ANY ORAL AGREEMENTS OR DISCUSSIONS THAT OCCUR BEFORE, CONTEMPORANEOUSLY WITH, OR SUBSEQUENT TO THE EXECUTION OF THIS LOAN AGREEMENT OR THE LOAN DOCUMENTS. THIS WRITTEN AGREEMENT AND THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS REPRESENT THE FINAL AGREEMENTS BETWEEN THE PARTIES AND MAY NOT BE CONTRADICTED BY EVIDENCE OF PRIOR, CONTEMPORANEOUS, OR SUBSEQUENT ORAL AGREEMENTS OF THE PARTIES.

(R. p. 112).

These provisions were reaffirmed and ratified by the 2011 Amendment. (R. pp. 17, 298). Upon Stevens’ default, on March 6, 2015, iStar sent a Default Notice wherein it again expressed that “[t]he Loan Documents may only be modified in writing as provided in the Loan Agreement.” (R. pp. 24, 373). The clear and express terms of the Loan Agreement prohibit oral modifications. Under New York law, therefore, the Loan Agreement could only be modified by signed writing. N.Y. Gen. Oblig. Law § 15-301. The trial court thus properly dismissed Stevens’ counterclaims, which hinge entirely on an oral amendment to the Loan Agreement, as a matter of law.

2. *The “Discounted Payment Contract” is prohibited by New York law.*

Stevens attempts to avoid the application of § 15-301 by applying a limited exception to § 15-301 that oral modifications to contracts that require written modifications can be enforced when one party has partially performed or relied upon the oral modification and such performance or reliance is unequivocally caused by the modification. *Towers Charter*, 894 F. 2d at 522. To invoke this exception, the reliance or performance must be conduct that is utterly inconsistent with the original contract. *Id.*

a. *Stevens’ partial performance was entirely consistent with the Loan Agreement.*

Stevens claims that the “Discounted Payment Agreement” caused it to attempt to obtain financing to pay iStar \$8,000,000. This conduct—payment to iStar—is entirely consistent with the Loan Agreement, under which Stevens owed iStar nearly \$31 million. Stevens cannot therefore invoke the *Towers Charter* exception. *Id.*

In *Towers Charter*, the plaintiff Towers obtained a loan from defendant Cadillac for purchase of a yacht. *Id.* at 518. Under the loan agreements, which forbade oral modifications, Towers was required to furnish certain documents to Cadillac before closing, including an appraisal, survey, and financial statements. *Id.* at 519. Towers did not submit the required documents to Cadillac by the deadline, so the loan did not close. *Id.* Towers then sued Cadillac for anticipatory breach, claiming that Cadillac had orally agreed to waive the requirement that Towers submit the required documentation. *Id.* at 521.

Towers attempted to invoke the “partial performance or reliance” exception to § 15-301 by arguing that Towers spent more than \$1 million refurbishing the yacht after relying on Cadillac’s purported promises to waive certain closing requirements. *Id.* at 522. The Court of Appeals affirmed summary judgment for Cadillac, noting that the loan agreements expressly

precluded oral modification, and nothing in the loan agreement prevented Towers from spending funds to refurbish the yacht pre-closing. *Id.* at 522. In other words, because Towers' actions were consistent with its rights under the loan agreements, the "partial performance" doctrine did not apply to allow an otherwise forbidden oral modification. *Id.*

Like in *Towers Charter*. Stevens' purported efforts to secure financing for \$8,000,000 are not precluded by the Loan Agreement. In fact, Stevens' efforts to obtain funds to repay iStar are entirely consistent with the Loan Agreement, which always required Stevens to pay iStar. Accordingly, like in *Towers Charter*, the "partial performance" exception to § 15-301 does not apply.

Stevens cites *Rose v. Spa Realty Assocs.*, 42 N.Y.2d 338, 366 N.E.2d 1279 (1977) in support of its argument, but *Rose* is distinguishable. In *Rose*, the plaintiff Develco entered into an agreement with defendant Spa Realty to purchase a maximum of 760 acres on which Develco intended to build a large housing development. *Id.* The parties intended to close in stages as Spa Realty obtained necessary government approvals to develop the land, with Develco having a number of options as to how many units it could purchase at once. The price and payment terms varied with the amount of land Develco purchased, ranging from all-cash to all-credit, and neither party was obligated to perform the agreement unless Spa Realty was able to obtain approvals for and Develco was able to close on 150 units.

Because of an unforeseen sewer issue on the property, Spa Realty was only able to obtain approvals for 96 units. Even though the parties' agreement did not allow Develco to purchase the specific quantity of 96 units, the parties nonetheless took all necessary steps to obtain approvals for those units. After Develco expended significant sums preparing to develop 96

units, the parties disagreed as to payment terms and Spa Realty refused to close on the grounds that Develco had not purchased 150 units. *Id.* at 342.

Develco filed a claim for specific performance, and argued that the original written agreement, which could be modified only in writing, had nonetheless been orally modified so that Develco could purchase 96 units even though the agreement did not allow Develco to purchase that specific quantity of units and did not require Spa Realty to close if Develco purchased fewer than 150 units. *Id.* at 345. The court agreed with Develco, finding that Spa Realty's application for approvals for 96 units—rather than the required 150—was utterly inconsistent with the parties' written agreement, which did not contain pricing or payment terms for that specific quantity of units. The court therefore affirmed an order allowing Develco to close on the 96 units, albeit not on the credit terms Develco desired.

Critical to the court's decision was that Spa Realty—the party against whom the purported oral modification was sought to be enforced—acted in a manner entirely inconsistent with the parties' written contract by obtaining approvals for a quantity of units not included in the contract, and Develco relied upon these inconsistent actions. In other words, Develco was not permitted to purchase 96 units under the parties' contract, but Spa Realty acted as if it were and then refused to close. *Rose* is thus utterly distinguishable; here, there is no allegation that the “Discounted Payment Contract” allows Stevens to take any actions that are not permitted under the Loan Agreement. Rather, the “Discounted Payment Contract” merely amended Stevens' payment obligations under the Loan Agreement, and Stevens was always permitted—and indeed obligated—to pay iStar.

The instant facts are more analogous to those in *Village on Canon v. Bankers Trust Co.*, 920 F. Supp. 520 (S.D.N.Y. 1996) and *Gun Hill Road Service Station, Inc. v. ExxonMobil Oil*

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